The NEC 3 Engineering and Construction Contract

A Commentary

Second Edition

Brian Eggleston *CEng, FICE, FIStructE, FCIArb*

Blackwell Science

The NEC 3 Engineering and Construction Contract

The NEC 3 Engineering and Construction Contract

A Commentary

Second Edition

Brian Eggleston *CEng, FICE, FIStructE, FCIArb*

Blackwell Science

© 2006 Brian Eggleston

Blackwell Science, a Blackwell Publishing company

Blackwell Science Ltd, 9600 Garsington Road, Oxford OX4 2DQ, UK

Tel: +44 (0) 1865 776868

Blackwell Publishing Inc., 350 Main Street, Malden, MA 02148-5020, USA

Tel: +1 781 388 8250

Blackwell Science Asia Pty Ltd, 550 Swanston Street, Carlton, Victoria 3053, Australia

Tel: +61 (0)3 8359 1011

The right of the Author to be identified as the Author of this Work has been asserted in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, except as permitted by the UK Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988, without the prior permission of the publisher.

First published 1996 by Blackwell Science as The New Engineering Contract: A Commentary Reissued in paperback $2000\,$

Second retitled edition published 2006 by Blackwell Science

ISBN-10: 0-632-05386-0 ISBN-13: 978-0-632-05386-5

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Eggleston, Brian, CEng.

The NEC 3 engineering and construction contract: a commentary/Brian Eggleston. – 2nd ed.

p. cm.

Rev. ed. of: The new engineering contract. 1996

Includes bibliographical references and index.

ISBN-13: 978-0-632-05386-5 (hardback : alk. paper)

ISBN-10: 0-632-05386-0 (hardback : alk. paper)

1. Engineering contracts-Great Britain. I. Eggleston, Brian, CEng.

New engineering contract. II. Title.

KD1641.E354 2006

343.41'07862-dc22

2006014908

A catalogue record for this title is available from the British Library

Set in 10/12 pt Palatino by SNP Best-set Typesetter Ltd, Hong Kong Printed and bound in Great Britain by TJ International, Padstow

The publisher's policy is to use permanent paper from mills that operate a sustainable forestry policy, and which has been manufactured from pulp processed using acid-free and elementary chlorine-free practices. Furthermore, the publisher ensures that the text paper and cover board used have met acceptable environmental accreditation standards.

For further information on Blackwell Publishing, visit our website: www.blackwellpublishing.com

Contents

	face hor's	note	xi xiii
1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Development of NEC contracts	1
	1.2	Characteristics of NEC contracts	2
	1.3	Structure of the NEC 3 Engineering and Construction	
		Contract	4
	1.4	Feedback from ECC 2	5
	1.5	Changes from ECC 2	6
	1.6	Points of interest in NEC 3	7
2	Mai	n options	11
	2.1	Introduction	11
	2.2	Contract strategy	12
	2.3	Option A – priced contract with activity schedule	18
	2.4	Option B – priced contract with bill of quantities	21
	2.5	Target contracts generally	22
	2.6	Options C and D – target contracts	25
	2.7	Option E – cost reimbursable contract	26
	2.8	Option F – management contract	27
	2.9	Option W1 – dispute resolution	27
	2.10	Option W2 – dispute resolution	28
3	Seco	ondary option clauses	30
	3.1	Introduction	30
	3.2	Option X1 – price adjustment for inflation	32
	3.3	Option X2 – changes in the law	32
	3.4	Option X3 – multiple currencies	33
	3.5	Option X4 – parent company guarantee	34
	3.6	Option X5 – sectional completion	35
	3.7	Option X6 – bonus for early completion	36
	3.8	Option X7 – delay damages	37
	3.9	Option X12 – partnering	42
	3.10	Option X13 – performance bond	44
	3.11	Option X14 – advanced payment to the contractor	45
	3.12	Option X15 – limitation of contractor's liability for design	47
	3.13	Option X16 – retention	48
	3.14	Option X17 – low performance damages	50
	3.15	Option X18 – limitation of liability	51

vi Contents

	3.16	Option X20 – key performance indicators	54
	3.17	Option Y(UK)2 – Housing Grants, Construction and	
		Regeneration Act 1996	55
	3.18	Option Y(UK)3 – Contracts (Rights of Third Parties)	
		Act 1999	56
	3.19	Option Z1 – additional conditions	56
4			=0
4		tract documents	58
	4.1	Introduction	58
	4.2	Entire agreements	59
	4.3		60
	4.4	8 ,	60
	4.5	NEC 3 documentation	61
	4.6 4.7	Essential contract documents	62
		Identified and defined terms	64
	4.8	The contract date Works information	64
	4.9		66
		Site information	69 71
		Contract data	71 71
	4.12	Schedules of cost components Ambiguities and inconsistencies in the contract	/1
	4.13	documents	74
	111	Schedule of clauses referring to the works information	7 4 75
	7.17	Schedule of clauses referring to the works information	73
5		players	79
		Introduction	79
		Others	81
		Actions	82
	5.4	1 2	85
	5.5	Express obligations of the employer	86
	5.6	The project manager	87
	5.7	Express duties of the project manager	90
	5.8	The supervisor	94
	5.9	Express duties of the supervisor	95
	5.10	Communications	95
	5.11	The project manager and the supervisor	100
6	Gen	eral core clauses	102
	6.1	Introduction	102
	6.2	Actions	103
	6.3	Identified and defined terms	103
	6.4	Interpretation and the law	113
	6.5	Communications etc.	115
	6.6	Instructions	115
	6.7	Adding to the working areas	115
	6.8	Early warning	116
	6.9	Ambiguities and inconsistencies	119

		Contents	vii
	6.10 6.11		120 121
7	Obl 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 7.6 7.7 7.8 7.9 7.10 7.11 7.12	Design obligations, responsibilities and liabilities Providing the works The contractor's design Using the contractor's design Design of equipment People Working with the employer and others Subcontracting Other responsibilities Express obligations of the contractor	126 129 131 133 136 136 137 138 140 143
8	Tim 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6 8.7 8.8	e (and related matters) Introduction Starting and completion Programmes Revision of programmes Shortened programmes Access to and use of the site	151 151 154 156 159 161 162 163 165
9	9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5	ing and defects Introduction Definitions and certificates Tests and inspections Testing and inspection before delivery Searching and notifying defects Correcting defects Accepting defects Uncorrected defects	170 170 173 177 179 180 182 184 185
10	Pay: 10.1 10.2 10.3 10.4 10.5 10.6 10.7	Payments Defined cost Payments – main option A Payments – main option B Payments – main option C	188 188 191 194 197 197 201 202 207

viii Contents

	10.9	Payments – main option E	207
	10.10	Payments – main option F	208
11	NEC	3 compensation event schemes	210
	11.1	Introduction	210
	11.2	Changes in NEC 3 (from ECC 2)	212
		Outline of procedures	216
		Defining a compensation event	217
		Compensation events as exclusive remedies	217
		Fairness of the compensation event procedures	218
		Unusual features of the compensation event procedures	219
12	Liste	ed compensation events	220
	12.1	Introduction	220
		Omissions from the listed events	221
	12.3	Works information related events	221
	12.4		224
	12.5	Employer's risk events	226
	12.6	Project manager/supervisor related events	227
	12.7	Physical conditions	231
	12.8	Adverse weather	234
	12.9	Prevention	235
	12.10	Measurement related events	236
	12.11	Secondary option clause events	238
13	Noti	fying compensation events	241
	13.1	Introduction	241
	13.2	Notifications by the project manager	242
	13.3	Notifications by the contractor	244
	13.4	Project manager's response to notifications	248
	13.5	Last date for notification of compensation events	251
14	Quo	tations for compensation events	253
		Introduction	253
		Instructions to submit quotations	256
		Instructions for alternative quotations	259
		Submission of quotations	260
	14.5	Status of the contractor's quotations	262
15	Asse	ssment of compensation events	265
	15.1	Introduction	265
	15.2	Changes from ECC 2	266
	15.3	General assessment rules	267
	15.4	Particular assessment rules	274
	15.5	The project manager's assessments	278
	15.6	Implementing compensation events	280
	15.7	Other financial remedies	281

Contents	ix
----------	----

16	Title		283
	16.1	Introduction	283
	16.2	Employer's title to equipment, plant and materials	284
	16.3	Marking equipment, plant and materials	285
	16.4	Removing equipment	285
	16.5		286
17	Risk	s and insurances	288
	17.1	Introduction	288
	17.2	Employer's risks	292
	17.3	Contractor's risks	295
	17.4	Repairs	296
		Indemnity	296
		Insurance cover	296
	17.7	Insurance policies	297
	17.8	Contractor's failure to insure	298
	17.9	Insurance by the employer	298
18	Tern	nination	300
	18.1	Introduction	300
	18.2	Summary of NEC 3 termination provisions	304
	18.3		305
	18.4	Termination under section 9	306
	18.5	Reasons for termination	308
	18.6	Procedures on termination	312
	18.7	Amounts due on termination	313
19	Disp	oute resolution	315
		Introduction	315
	19.2	Developments in dispute resolution	316
	19.3		317
	19.4		319
	19.5	Adjudication under Option W2	329
	19.6	Review by the tribunal	333
	19.7	The Adjudicator's Contract	336
20	NEC	3 Engineering and Construction Subcontract	337
		Introduction	337
	20.2	Core clauses – general	339
	20.3	Core clauses – the subcontractor's main responsibilities	340
	20.4	Core clauses – time	340
	20.5	Core clauses – testing and defects	341
	20.6		341
	20.7	*	342
	20.8		343
	20.9	Core clauses – risks and insurance	343

x Contents

	20.10	Core clauses – termination	343
	20.11	Dispute resolution	344
21	NEC	3 family of contracts	345
	21.1	The contracts	345
	21.2	NEC 3 Short Contract and Short Subcontract	346
	21.3	NEC 3 Term Service Contract	348
	21.4	NEC 3 Framework Contract	352
	21.5	NEC 3 Professional Services Contract	352
	21.6	NEC 3 Adjudicator's Contract	354
	21.7	Concluding comment	354
Tabl	e of ca	ses	355
Tabl	e of cla	ause references	359

Preface

In the preface to my 1996 book on the second edition of the New Engineering Contract (ECC 2) I questioned whether it was necessary to scrutinise the detail of the contract when faith in its principles might be more important to users than the detail of its provisions. However, I went on to suggest that if the contract succeeded and gained widespread use then commercial pressures would prevail and the contract would need to be robust enough to withstand detailed analysis and criticism.

It was soon evident that ECC 2 was becoming a popular contract of choice for civil engineering works and for building works – and its usage remains on an upward curve. It has certainly succeeded. But it was also soon evident that there were problems with the contract, particularly with its compensation event procedures. The need for a third edition was obvious and urgent.

NEC 3 took a few years longer than expected to produce. Perhaps this reflected the difficulties of amending clauses written in a unique style with minimalistic drafting. Perhaps remaining true to the original concepts of the contract inhibited change. When NEC 3 did eventually emerge in 2005 it was not the comprehensive revision which might have been expected. Some useful changes to compensation event procedures had been made, a few gaps had been plugged here and there, and a few new clauses added. At first sight it seemed that not much had changed. But getting into the detail revealed a different picture. There has been significant change – probably far more than the draftsmen intended – and not all of it for the better.

My endeavour in writing this book has been to try to explain in ordinary language what the clauses of NEC 3 say and what I think they mean. Not everyone will share my views but if they do no more than provide food for thought I hope they will make some contribution to the use and development of the contract.

Brian Eggleston May 2006

Author's note

Phraseology

The New Engineering Contract is a family of contract documents and the proper use of the acronym NEC is as a prefix rather than as the name of any single contract. This book is principally a commentary on the third edition of the NEC Engineering and Construction Contract – the main contract in the family. For convenience that contract is referred to throughout this book simply as NEC 3. Its predecessor is referred to as ECC 2.

Capitals

NEC 3 relies heavily on defined terms which have capital initials and identified terms which are in italics. However, for reasons of style which I hope make for easier reading, capitals and italics have been used sparingly in this book, and therefore both defined terms and identified terms appear usually in ordinary case.

Text of NEC 3

Very little of the text of NEC 3 is quoted in this book. I have assumed that readers will have to hand a copy of NEC 3 and the other forms in the family as appropriate.

Commentary on the text is against the June 2005 publication of NEC 3.

Content of book

I have endeavoured to cover in this book all the clauses of NEC 3 and all the changes from ECC 2. I have retained the general layout and some of the content of my book on ECC 2 whilst extending commentary on compensation events from one to five chapters.

Table of clause numbers

The published version of the NEC 3 contract contains a comprehensive index of subjects referenced to clause numbers. In this book a full table of clause

xiv Author's note

numbers with descriptions is referenced to chapter sections. The table is set out on pages 359–78.

Readers of this book who wish to have the benefit of a subject index will find it a straightforward matter to move from the subjects in the NEC 3 contract to the chapter sections in this book.

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Development of NEC contracts

NEC 3 is a generic name for a family of contracts published for the Institution of Civil Engineers by Thomas Telford Services Ltd. NEC stands for New Engineering Contract and it is by this name that the contracts are generally known. The main contract and the subcontract were first published as consultative editions in January 1991. First formal editions followed in March 1993; second editions in November 1995; and third editions in June 2005.

It was always intended that there would be a family of New Engineering Contracts and in the short space of time between 1991 and 2005 other contracts were produced such that by 2005 the NEC 3 family comprised:

- the NEC 3 Engineering and Construction Contract
- the NEC 3 Engineering and Construction Subcontract
- the NEC 3 Professional Services Contract
- the NEC 3 Short Contract
- the NEC 3 Short Subcontract
- the NEC 3 Adjudicator's Contract
- the NEC 3 Term Services Contract
- the NEC 3 Framework Contract

The contracts are supported by officially published guidance notes, flow charts and an advisory document entitled *NEC 3 Procurement and Contract Strategies*. The Engineering and Construction Contract has six main procurement options and although one document (the *Black Book*) covers all six, each option is separately published. In all, as at June 2005, the complete set of NEC 3 documents comprised twenty-three volumes.

Background to NEC contracts

The background to the development of the New Engineering Contract does much to explain its style and content. In the 1980s there was on-going debate within the Institution of Civil Engineers, the lead body for the production of the ICE Conditions of Contract – at that time the standard form used for most civil engineering works in the UK – as to the direction of future contract strategies. At issue were questions as to whether the then existing standard forms adequately served the best interests of the parties by focusing on the

obligations and responsibilities of the parties rather than on good management, and whether an entirely new approach was needed to promote co-operation and to reduce confrontation. The prevailing view was that something new was needed, particularly for sizeable contracts where attention to good project management was the key to successful completion. So although confidence remained high that the standard ICE forms would remain the popular choice for routine civil engineering works, the Institution embarked upon the drafting and production of what is now the New Engineering Contract.

The drafting team was charged with three specific objectives for the contract:

- that it should be more flexible in its scope than existing standard forms
- that it should provide greater stimulus to good project management than existing forms
- that it should be expressed more simply and clearly than existing forms

It was, therefore, a matter of policy that the New Engineering Contract should be different from other standard forms in style and content.

For users of the contract the difference is of very significant practical effect. It used to be said that a good contract was never taken out of the drawer until it was needed. For the New Engineering Contract that rule does not apply. It is as much a manual of project management as a set of contractual conditions – and it should never be taken off the desk and put in the drawer.

Prospects for the future

The rapid expansion of use of the New Engineering Contract has been a remarkable success story. Contrary to intentions and to expectations the contract has within just a few years replaced ICE Conditions of Contract as the contract of popular choice for civil engineering works and it is already in widespread use for building, process and plant works. Although much used for major projects it is also used at more mundane levels. With the support base it has now built amongst clients and professionals, and with the range of contracts now available, there are real prospects that the New Engineering Contract in its various forms will become the dominant contract of the future.

1.2 Characteristics of NEC contracts

As noted above the New Engineering Contract was drafted with the objectives of achieving flexibility, stimulus to good project management, clarity and simplicity.

Flexibility

Flexibility is perhaps the most ambitious of these objectives. Thus the NEC 3 Engineering and Construction Contract aims to be an all purpose contract for all construction and engineering disciplines at home or abroad. It offers this through a combination of uniquely drafted provisions and a complex structure of options. Four distinct features are presented:

- discipline specific terminology and references to the practices of particular industries are avoided. Reliance is placed on a framework of general provisions written largely in non-technical language
- responsibility for design is not fixed with either the employer or the contractor but can be set at any amount from nil to total with either party
- primary options give a choice of pricing mechanism from lump sum to cost, *plus*
- secondary options allow the employer to build up the provisions in the contract to suit his individual policies

Stimulus to good management

Again, as noted above, much of the inspiration for the development of NEC contracts came from a belief that existing forms of contract no longer adequately served the best interests of the parties. The argument was put that expanding procurement strategies, changing practices in contracting, and developments in project management required contracts to focus as much on management as on the obligations and liabilities of the parties. So NEC contracts lay great emphasis on communications, co-operation, programming, and the need for clear definition at the outset of various types of information. Reports from users of NEC contracts suggest that improvements in project management are being achieved and that job satisfaction for those involved is better than with traditional contracts.

Clarity and simplicity

The approach adopted by the drafting team towards the objective that NEC contracts should be expressed more simply and clearly than existing forms of contract was to start from scratch rather than to build on old foundations. So NEC contracts are intentionally and conspicuously different from other standard forms in style and structure. They are written in non-legalistic language using short sentences and avoiding cross-references. Familiar phrases such as 'extension of time' and 'variations' are absent as is the regular use of the word 'shall' to signify obligations.

However, there is a price to pay for this brevity. Taken by themselves, the contracts are, at least for first time readers, more of a mystery than a model of clarity and simplicity. Fortunately, there are guidance notes and flow

charts to assist in general understanding and the application of the contracts.

Legal interpretation of the contracts is not so easily solved. Neither the guidance notes nor the flow charts are intended to be used for legal interpretation and the application of legal precedents from traditional forms of contract written in conventional drafting style can only be surmised. Which raises the question, have NEC contracts sacrificed legal certainty in pursuit of a new order? There are certainly some who feel that discarding conventional drafting amounts to discarding the accumulated contractual wisdom of generations. Throwing the baby out with the bath water is how one eminent construction lawyer put it. But others are far more optimistic and they suggest that to focus on the words of NEC contracts is to miss the point of the message; and that the courts, if called upon to do so, will have no difficulty in discovering the true intentions of the parties.

1.3 Structure of the NEC 3 Engineering and Construction Contract

In this chapter and thereafter in this book, NEC 3 means the NEC 3 Engineering and Construction Contract. ECC 2 means the second edition of the Engineering and Construction Contract.

Each NEC 3 contract is uniquely put together to meet the employer's needs by assembling clauses from the option structure and by particularisation in accompanying documents.

Option structure

In order to create a set of NEC 3 conditions for a particular contract, the employer:

- makes a selection from the six main options as to which type of pricing mechanism is to apply
- includes in the contract the nine sections of core clauses
- specifies which dispute resolution option applies
- includes such selection (if any) from the seventeen detailed secondary option clauses as he thinks fit
- includes in the contract under secondary option Z any additional clauses required by him or as agreed with the contractor

Main options

The main options comprise six types of payment mechanism:

- Option A priced contract with activity schedule
- Option B priced contract with bill of quantities

- Option C target contract with activity schedule
- Option D target contract with bill of quantities
- Option E cost reimbursable contract
- Option F management contract

Each of the main options is published in a separate volume which includes the relevant core clauses for the particular option. Additionally there is a single volume (the *Black Book*) covering all six options.

Core clauses

The core clauses are grouped into nine sections, numbered as follows:

- (1) general
- (2) contractor's main responsibilities
- (3) time
- (4) testing and defects
- (5) payment
- (6) compensation events
- (7) title
- (8) risks and insurance
- (9) termination

For each section there is a common set of core clauses and for some of the main options there are additional core clauses. There are two sets of dispute resolution clauses, labelled Options W1 and W2, from which a choice must be made.

Secondary options

The secondary option clauses are labelled under X, Y(UK)2, and Z prefixes. Not all would normally be regarded as secondary. Included within them are some matters such as retention and liquidated damages for late completion which most traditional contracts treat as essential. Other matters such as performance bonds and performance related damages are more obviously contract specific. The full list of secondary option clauses is considered in Chapter 3.

1.4 Feedback from ECC 2

It was evident from the usage growth of ECC 2 that the contract had many admirers and satisfied users. Anecdotal evidence suggested that when ECC 2 contracts were properly prepared, adequately staffed, and administered by a project manager who understood the philosophy of the contract and recognised the duties involved, they generally operated well. However, there were

reports of contractors losing large sums of money on some ECC 2 contracts and it is no secret that many disputes were referred to adjudication on both small and large ECC 2 contracts.

Feedback indicated various types of problems, in particular:

- preparation problems these mainly related to incomplete works information and to a lesser extent incomplete contract data
- staffing problems there is little doubt that it took some time for employers, contractors, and project managers to recognise the staffing needs of ECC 2 contracts with the result that some contracts were understaffed and never properly operated, whilst others were staffed to the required strength but non-recoverable costs were sustained
- people problems the requirement in ECC 2 for the parties and the project manager to act in a spirit of mutual trust and co-operation was frequently not understood or followed – one particular problem being the involvement of persons with management styles inherited from old style adversarial contracts
- compensation event problems these were many and various with perhaps the most common being complaints of procedural overload, difficulties and costs of assessments, failures to use the quotation system, and confusion over time-bars

Preparation, staffing and people problems can hopefully be resolved by training and experience. Some of the compensation event problems of ECC 2 have been addressed in NEC 3.

1.5 Changes from ECC 2

The amount of change from ECC 2 to NEC 3 is quite small in volume terms – perhaps no more than 5% or so of the text. However, that belies the importance of the changes. There are new provisions of considerable potential impact and changes which significantly affect the operation of the contract. And as with changes generally to contracts and other formal documents, a change in one clause, however small, can have effects not immediately apparent on other clauses. For these reasons and because there has been quite an amount of re-arrangement and re-numbering, NEC 3 is best treated as a new contract rather than an update of ECC 2.

Significant new features

key dates

 these are dates set by the employer by which the contractor has to bring a stated part of the works to a specified condition

risk register

 a register maintained by the project manager and intended to include all risks stated in the contract data or subsequently identified by the project manager and the contractor

 key performance 	 aspects of performance for which targets are
indicators	set in an incentive schedule
 prevention provisions 	- new clauses by which the employer carries the
	time and cost risks of events similar to, bu
	potentially wider than, force majeure
• entire agreement clause	- statement that the contract is the entire agree
	ment between the parties
 quotations treated as 	- new provisions indicating the contractor'
having been accepted	right to submit quotations for compensation
	events
 limitation of liability 	- new option clause limiting the contractor's lia
·	bility to the employer for indirect or conse
	quential loss
 delay damages 	- proportioning down clause included for part
, 0	of the works taken over before completion

Significant changes

• cost schedules	-	increased use of shorter schedule of cost components to simplify assessment of compensation
		events
 rates and lump sums 	_	by agreement rates and lump sums can be used
-		to assess compensation events
fee percentages	_	separate fee percentages for subcontracted work
•		and direct work
 conditions precedent 	_	revised and clarified provisions on notices and
•		timing restrictions for the submission of compen-
		sation events
interest	_	revised and clarified provisions on entitlements
		to interest
 dispute resolution 	_	choice to be made between alternative sets of
•		provisions

1.6 Points of interest in NEC 3

Entire agreement

New NEC 3 clause 12.4 states that the contract is the entire agreement between the parties. Precisely what this means is open to debate but there are various possibilities – all of which give rise to potentially important consequences. Lawyers will probably seek to clarify this clause for particular contracts.

Exclusion of common law rights

The question of whether the compensation event system acts to exclude the contractor's common law rights to damages for breach is not entirely settled

in NEC 3. New clause 12.4 may have a bearing on the matter as may the new clause 63.4 which refers to rights of the parties. However, there remain aspects of the compensation event system which are difficult to reconcile with the concept of loss of common law rights.

Conditions precedent to entitlement

ECC 2 was far from clear as to what was legally intended by its requirement for compensation events to be notified within two weeks. New provisions in NEC 3 aim to rectify the situation by limiting entitlement to cost and time changes to notifications given within eight weeks of an event. However, this does not apply to compensation events which the project manager should have notified. There are various other aspects of the clause itself which add doubts as to the likely efficacy of its application. Perhaps a bigger problem is that there does not appear to be anything in NEC 3 empowering the project manager to concern himself with conditions precedent and time-bars.

Powers of the project manager

The intention of ECC 2 was probably that the project manager would act more as the employer's agent than as an independent contract administrator and supervisor. This view of his role took something of a knock in the 2005 case of *Corber v. Bechtel*. But by entirely separate development NEC 3 seems to have moved towards a more restricted role for the project manager. New clause 12.3 requires changes to the contract to be agreed and signed by the parties – a provision which would fit naturally into most contracts but less so in NEC 3 where many contractual restrictions and obligations are found in the works information.

Changes to works information

The extent of the project manager's power to change the works information under ECC 2 was not expressly restricted in the conventional manner to changes necessary or desirable for the completion and functioning of the works. However, common sense dictated that there should be some restriction. Under NEC 3 the proper approach to considering what changes to the works information are permissible may be to examine where the project manager derives his power from and how the contractor's obligations are defined rather than examining possible restrictions.

Prevention

The inclusion in NEC 3 of provisions putting the risk of what are called 'prevention' matters on the employer will concern many employers and their

lawyers. The matters covered by the provisions include what might normally be called *'force majeure'* or 'beyond control of the parties' matters, and the usual rule would be that loss lies where it falls. For that reason alone some employers will wish to see the provisions deleted. Another likely reason is that the provisions as drafted are capable of very wide interpretation and their scope could be argued to extend to all manner of problems encountered by the contractor.

Quotations for compensation events

Strengthening of the quotation system for compensation events by the inclusion in NEC 3 of provisions whereby default by the project manager in operating the contractual rules leads to quotations being treated as accepted will be welcomed by contractors. However, it is something of a surprise that such quotations can be disputed by the employer and altered by an adjudicator. In this respect they are either not being treated as accepted or it is the case, which seems unlikely, that all quotations accepted by the project manager can be challenged by the employer and reviewed by an adjudicator.

Assessment of compensation events

The changes for simplification of assessments of compensation events by greater use of the shorter schedule of cost components and possible use of rates and lump sums will be generally welcomed. There will, however, be disappointment that the changes do not address the fundamental problem that the assessment rules are not suited to low value events or for contracts with frequent and multiple events. There may also be concern as to how the new provision in NEC 3 that assessments should divide actual and forecast costs according to when instructions for quotations were given or should have been given is intended to operate. Retrospective forecasting may be envisaged but it is difficult to see it applying in adjudication.

Dispute resolution

The inclusion in NEC 3 of alternative dispute resolution procedures for contracts which are subject to the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996, and contracts which are not, will not necessarily lead to the choice which might be expected. The statutory right to adjudication under the Act still applies to qualifying contracts even if the non-compliant alternative is chosen. The big difference between the two alternatives can be simply expressed – one imposes time limits and restrictions on the disputes which can be referred to adjudication, the other allows any dispute to be referred at any time. Subject to retention of any statutory rights it is a matter for the parties as to which of these they prefer.

One surprising and disappointing aspect of the dispute resolution procedures of NEC 3 is that they fail to include the range of procedures now becoming commonplace in construction contracts. Most notably, they fail to include conciliation or mediation which, given the complexities of the contract and its requirement for the parties to act in a spirit of mutual trust and co-operation, might well be the best choice the parties could make for resolving their disputes.

Chapter 2

Main options

2.1 Introduction

NEC 3 retains the six main options, A to F, included in ECC 2 with one major change. Whereas ECC 2 grouped dispute resolution clauses with termination clauses in section 9 of Options A to F, NEC 3 separates the clauses leaving section 9 solely for termination and putting dispute resolution into two new alternative main options W1 and W2. Option W1 matches the procedures in the main body of ECC 2, Option W2 matches the procedures in ECC 2's secondary option Y(UK)2. Broadly, the intention in NEC 3 is that Option W2 will be used for contracts subject to the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 and Option W1 will be used for all other contracts. However, as discussed later in this chapter, that will not always be the case.

The main options

The main options of NEC 3 are:

- Option A priced contract with activity schedule
- Option B priced contract with bill of quantities
- Option C target contract with activity schedule
- Option D target contract with bill of quantities
- Option E cost reimbursable contract
- Option F management contract
- dispute resolution Option W1
- dispute resolution Option W2

The main options provide, in descending order, a broad scale of distribution of price risk with Option A providing maximum certainty of price for the employer and Option F providing the least.

The employer is required to state in part one of the contract data which main option is to be used and which dispute resolution option is selected. In most cases the choice will be entirely that of the employer. However, sometimes potential tenderers are invited to propose which main option should apply as part of pre-qualification procedures. When partnering is intended prospective contractors may be allowed to have a say in which main option should be used.

Users of NEC 3 should be alert to the fact that each main option has its own particular clauses which are additional to the core clauses in the main

nine sections of the contract. In particular a point to note is that although the definitions in the core clauses stop at number 19 in clause 11 of the base contract, there are other definitions particular to Options A to F which take the numbering through to 33.

Construction management

There is no named main option in NEC 3 for construction management – the system in which the contractor provides only management services to the employer with the works packages let as contracts directly between the works contractors and the employer. However, this need not be a barrier to the use of NEC 3 for construction management.

For construction management the employer should appoint a construction management contractor as project manager under the NEC professional services contract. The duties of the construction manager would be to advise the employer on the placing of the works contracts under whichever main options of NEC 3 are most appropriate and then to project manage the works contracts. For an interesting case on the duties of construction managers see *Great Eastern Hotel Ltd v. John Laing Ltd* (2005).

2.2 Contract strategy

Contract strategy is not an exact science. There are some guiding principles but every employer is unique in his aspirations, his circumstances and his preferences.

For some employers certainty of price is the dominant aspiration and then, given few restrictive circumstances and few particular preferences, the obvious strategic choice will be a lump sum contract with contractor's design. For other employers certainty of price may be secondary to considerations of quality, operations/restrictions, or the need for a quick start and a fast finish. Which method of procurement, which type of contract, and which form of contract then become more complex questions. Some employers, on the strength of past experiences or hopes for the future, develop preferences for certain methods of procurement and certain forms of contract. Rational analysis of selection criteria to determine contract strategy may then become secondary to selection of the most suitable contractor.

One of the main strengths of NEC 3 is its flexibility. If an employer does develop a preference for its use he is nothing like as limited in his choice of procurement route as with other standard forms. He has six main options to choose from and construction management available as a further option. It is not appropriate in this book to provide a detailed review of the theories of contract strategy but for those who do need to study the subject useful starting points are CIRIA Report R85 *Target and Cost-reimbursable Construction Contracts* or the RIBA publication *Which Contract*. As a checklist for matters to consider, however, the following may be helpful:

- which party is to be responsible for design
- how important to the employer is certainty of price
- what views prevail on the allocation of risk
- how firmly known are the employer's requirements and what likelihood is there of change
- what operating restrictions apply on the employer's premises or in the construction of the works
- what emphasis is to be placed on early commencement and/or rapid completion
- what flexibility does the employer need in the contractual arrangements e.g. to terminate at will
- how anxious is the employer to avoid or to minimise formal disputes and legal proceedings
- how important to the employer is the concept of single point responsibility

Responsibility for design

The general principle which should influence which party is responsible for design is that of competence – which party can most competently undertake the design?

If professional design firms are to be employed, whether it be by the employer or by the contractor, the question of competence in this general sense does not arise. But with contractor's design an obvious advantage for the employer is that a choice of designs may be put forward by the tenderers. A further potential advantage is that the contractor's expertise is more likely to be used to the full when the freedom to develop that expertise in the design is permitted.

If the employer already has his own in-house design resources it may be neither efficient nor economic to place design responsibility with the contractor. Or it may be that in-house design teams are more closely in tune with the employer's requirements than any contractor could be. Moreover, in some situations there are matters of confidentiality as to the purpose or operation of the works which are wholly decisive as to whether design briefs can be issued to tenderers and as to which party is responsible for design. In other situations there may be a reliance on specialist know how or patented designs which is itself decisive as to design responsibility.

But as a general rule if the employer is able to specify his requirements in terms of a performance specification or quality standards there is much to be said for contractor's design. Not only may the standard of liability of a contractor for his design (fitness for purpose) be higher than that of a professional designer (skill and care) but the scope for claims for extra payment from the contractor arising out of the designer's defaults and deficiencies is eliminated.

As to how the allocation of responsibility for design influences choice between the main options of NEC 3 the main points to note are:

- Option A lump sum contract
 Ideally suited to contractor's design but can be used for employer's design or divided design responsibility providing the employer's design element is complete at the time of tender.
- Option B remeasurement contract Not suited to contractor's design because of the reliance on bills of quantities and the difficulties posed by the contractor producing his own bills of quantities.
- Option C target contract (lump sum base)
 As Option A but allows the employer more flexibility in developing his own design.
- Option D target contract (bill of quantities base)
 Suffers from similar problems to Option B.
- Option E cost reimbursable contract
 Permits maximum flexibility in allocation of design responsibility and allows development of the design as the works proceed.
- Option F management contract
 Not suitable for allocation of the whole of design responsibility to the contractor unless placed as a 'design and manage' contract but particularly suitable for contracts with a high reliance on specialist subcontractors who undertake their own design.

Certainty of price

For many employers certainty of price is the decisive factor in contract strategy. Commercial pressures may dictate that either a project can be completed within a set budget or it is not worth commencing.

Option A (the lump sum contract) offers the best prospects for certainty of price – particularly when used with contractor's design.

Option C (the target contract based on lump sum) fixes with some degree of certainty the maximum price but at tender it is less precise than Option A in fixing the likely contract price.

Options B and D (both bill of quantities based) put the risk of accuracy of billed quantities and the consequences of re-measure on the employer and consequently both suffer from lack of price certainty.

Option E (the cost reimbursable contract) relieves the contractor of any risk on price (other than in his fee). Consequently not only is the employer at risk on the price, with the contract itself providing no certainty of price, but the contractor has little incentive by way of any target to minimise costs. Clearly Option E is not suitable if the employer is looking for certainty of price.

Option F (the management contract) is a cost reimbursable contract in so far that the employer and not the contractor takes the risk on the costs of the works contracts. However, management contracts are frequently arranged on the basis of lump sum works contracts and this can introduce a good measure of cost control into the system. If the quotations for the works contracts can all be obtained before the letting of the management contract there can also be a good measure of price certainty.